FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/27/2023 12:48 PM

102677-3
No. 84720-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

ROBERT W. COONEY,

Respondent,

and

HILLARY A. BROOKS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary W. Manca
WSBA #42798
Talmadge/Fitzpatrick
2775 Harbor Avenue SW
Third Floor, Suite C
Seattle, WA 98126
(206) 574-6661

Attorney for Petitioner
Hillary A. Brooks

A. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns crucial legal questions about the duties of disclosure that spouses owe to each other and to the court during marital dissolution proceedings. Because the undisclosed asset in this case was a beneficiary interest in a trust, this case provides this Court with the opportunity—for the first time—to decide how to characterize such an interest under the dissolution chapter’s sections regulating property distributions, spousal maintenance awards, and settlement agreements in divorce cases. Given the sweeping implications of Division I’s decision for all divorce cases statewide, this Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Hillary Brooks, the appellant below.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Brooks asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on November 27, 2023 (“Op.”) and reproduced in the appendix. While unpublished, it is accessible also at 2023 WL 8185931.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When a dissolution court makes a property distribution under RCW 26.09.080, a spousal maintenance award under RCW 26.09.090, or a settlement approval under RCW 26.09.070, does a beneficiary interest in a trust count as “property” or as an otherwise relevant “economic circumstance” within those statutes’ meaning?

2. Is a husband’s fiduciary duty to his wife broad enough to give her the right to rely on the statements that he makes about his assets in a settlement agreement, or does his wife instead have an overriding duty of due diligence requiring her to engage in discovery to uncover concealed assets?

3. Does a husband owe a duty to the dissolution court requiring him to disclose a beneficiary interest in a trust?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) The Husband Hid His Beneficiary Interest in a Trust

Robert Cooney and Hillary Brooks married in Washington in 1991 and divorced in Washington in 2021. CP 1, 396, 633.

While Cooney studied medicine, Brooks supported Cooney and their children as the primary parent and breadwinner for 20 years. CP 658-60. Eventually, Cooney’s medical career took off, and he started out-earning Brooks by several multiples. CP 448, 660.

Unbeknownst to Brooks, Cooney was the sole residuary beneficiary (other than a few small cash beneficiaries) of a trust set up for his grandmother and her companion. CP 579. The trust included several assets—a duplex in Mount Vernon, the proceeds from selling a property in California, personal property, and all financial and bank accounts for which a separate beneficiary was not appointed. CP 579-81, 714.

(2) The Wife, Suspecting the Husband Had a Beneficiary Interest in a Trust, Negotiated a Warranty of Disclosure in Their Dissolution Settlement Agreement

After Cooney petitioned for divorce, he and his attorney lied several times about the beneficiary interest. Brooks served a pattern discovery request for documents for “all trusts in which you are a beneficiary,” the same request that Cooney also served.

CP 661, 671. In response, Cooney claimed under penalty of perjury that he had no such documents. CP 41-42, 780-83, 801. During his deposition, Cooney mentioned only his role as trustee, not his beneficiary interest. CP 827, 832.

As trial neared, Brooks moved for an order compelling Cooney to answer more than 50 discovery requests, including the one about trust documents. CP 37-56. In response to the motion, Cooney and his attorney misrepresented to the trial court that Cooney lacked responsive trust documents because Cooney served only as “a trustee,” not a beneficiary. CP 238, 242. Brooks suspected he might be a beneficiary too, however, and she argued so in her reply. CP 432-33, 439. The trial court granted Brooks’s motion to compel. CP 298-99.

Before Cooney’s compelled discovery responses were due, CP 298-99, he agreed to warrant that he had fully disclosed all his assets, and so Brooks decided to enter a separation contract, including a property settlement agreement, CP 633-52. The agreement listed many assets but not Cooney’s beneficiary

interest. *Id.* Section 1.9 provided, however, that “the property and obligations hereafter listed and divided are all of the property and obligations that either or both have accumulated.” CP 634. This representation contained no exceptions, nor did it state that the parties knew about other property that was unlisted in the agreement. *Id.* Section 4.2 provided that “[t]he parties acknowledge and represent under penalty of perjury that each has made a full and complete disclosure of any and all financial assets they own or control or have placed in the control of others (separate or community).” CP 643. This representation included no exceptions and did not say that the parties knew about assets other than those listed in the agreement. *Id.*

The trial court then approved the parties’ settlement and dissolved their marriage. CP 393, 396-401.

(3) Division I Upheld the Trial Court’s Denial of the Wife’s Motion to Vacate the Dissolution Decree After She Uncovered the Husband’s Beneficiary Interest in a Probate Proceeding

When Cooney’s grandmother and her companion died a

few months later, Brooks looked up the probate filings and discovered that Cooney was the sole residuary beneficiary of the trust. CP 579-80, 715. After making these discoveries, Brooks moved to vacate under CR 60(b), explaining she never would have entered that particular settlement agreement if Cooney had disclosed his trust interest. CP 402-17, 470-77, 664. In response, Cooney did not deny Brooks's estimation (at CP 581) that the trust assets owed to Cooney as beneficiary were worth at least \$1 million. CP 421-27, 436-44, 455. He did not deny that he had omitted his beneficiary interest from his discovery responses and the settlement agreement. Still, the trial court denied vacation. CP 479-81.

Division I affirmed. The court held that Cooney's beneficiary interest was not "property" and "did not affect the parties' economic circumstances because it was contingent." Op. 8-9, 13. The court also concluded that Brooks's decision not to wait for Cooney to produce the documents by the court-ordered deadline had "terminated" his fiduciary duty to her. Op. at 14.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) This Court Should Decide for The First Time How to Characterize Beneficiary Interests in Trusts

Division I's characterization of the beneficiary interest implicates an issue of surpassing public importance, and it clashes with other appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

(a) This Issue Carries Sweeping Importance Because It Allows Spouses Who Come from Wealthy Families to Hide Financial Resources

Under Division I's opinion, a beneficiary interest in a trust now stands beyond the reach of RCW 26.09.080 (property distribution), RCW 26.09.090(1) (spousal maintenance), and RCW 26.09.070(3) (settlement approval). A spouse expecting to receive millions of dollars from a family trust can now conceal that interest or direct the dissolution court to ignore it entirely, confident that Division I's decision provides cover for such conduct. *See* GR 14.1(a). That could result in the disadvantaged spouse receiving less property and maintenance than their case would justify. So this petition concerns every spouse in

Washington who is married to a person with a secret beneficial interest in their wealthy family's trust. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This petition concerns the public interest especially because Division I's opinion undermines the Legislature's policies for marital dissolutions. Courts should characterize assets "consistent with the statutory goals" set out in RCW 26.09. *In re Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d 213, 223, 978 P.2d 498 (1999). Those goals are threefold. First, property distributions must be "just and equitable." RCW 26.09.080. The dissolution court must weigh "*all the circumstances* of the marriage, both past and present, and an evaluation of *the future needs of parties.*" *Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d at 219 (quotation omitted). These circumstances include "the parties' post-dissolution economic circumstances." *In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438, 444, 832 P.2d 871 (1992). Second, spousal maintenance awards, which are "a flexible tool by which the parties' standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time," *Washburn v. Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168, 179, 677 P.2d 152 (1984), must be

“just,” RCW 26.09.090(1). Third, dissolution courts must set aside settlement agreements that are “unfair.” RCW 26.09.070(3). A dissolution court cannot achieve these statutory goals without knowing about a trust beneficiary’s interest that could be worth several million dollars. This Court should grant review to decide this issue implicating the fundamental purposes of RCW 26.09.

That Division I believed—erroneously—California law governed the trust interest’s character does not place this issue beyond RAP 13.4(b)(4). After all, the court, pointing to its prior decisions in *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wn. App. 38, 49, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), and *In re Matter of Marriage of Leland*, 69 Wn. App. 57, 71, 847 P.2d 518 (1993), thought that Washington law “aligns” with the holding in this case. Op. at 13 n.6. With that analysis, the decision births a persuasive authority for non-disclosing spouses, their lawyers, and trial courts to cite. GR 14.1(a). In any event, whether an asset governed under another state’s law counts as “property” or as an “economic

circumstance” is a question filtered through Washington’s dissolution statutes. *See* RCW 26.09.070(3), .080, .080(4), .090(1)(f).¹ While another state’s law might shed light on whether a valid contractual right exists or on whether an asset is contingent or vested, the ultimate determination of its character centers on the specific statutory uses for that asset in a dissolution case in Washington. In other words, whether an asset is “property within RCW 26.09.080’s meaning turns on the construction of this Washington statute. So too for whether it is an “economic circumstance” relevant under RCW 26.09.070(3) and .080(4). In short, this petition raises an issue “that should be determined by the Supreme Court,” RAP 13.4(b)(4), not California’s high court.

¹ The parties were married and divorced in Washington and executed their settlement agreement under Washington law. CP 633.

(b) This Issue Is of Surpassing Public Importance Also Because It Requires this Court to Define, for the First Time, the Dissolution Chapter’s Terminology for the Parties’ Economic Assets

Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(4) also because this Court’s analysis likely would call on this Court to finally define key undefined statutory terms. Those include “property” in RCW 26.09.080, “economic circumstances” in RCW 26.09.070(3) and RCW 26.09.080(4), and “ability” to pay in RCW 26.09.090(1)(f). The dissolution chapter “does not define the term ‘property.’” *In re Marriage of Harrington*, 85 Wn. App. 613, 624, 935 P.2d 1357 (1997). It also does not define these other terms, as they do not appear in the chapter’s definitions section. *See* RCW 26.09.004.

In this vacuum, the appellate courts have sometimes struggled to decide which assets count under the dissolution chapter and which do not. For example, *In re Marriage of Hall*, 103 Wn.2d 236, 692 P.2d 175 (1984) addressed the “goodwill” of a professional practice. *Id.* at 241. This Court held it equates

to “property.” *Id.* But in doing so, *Hall* never articulated a test for what “property” means under RCW 26.09.080. *See Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 241-42. That gap results in confusion: this Court reasoned in *Hall*, for example, that goodwill must be property because it “directly supplements” a professional’s earning capacity. *Id.* at 241. But then this Court explained that future earning capacity is not itself an “asset” that can be divided directly under RCW 26.09.080. *See Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 248. How can something be property if what it “supplements” is not property? *Hall* also seemed to agree that goodwill “is not readily salable.” *Id.* at 239. How can something rise to the level of property when it cannot be sold? These logical inconsistencies show the lack of clear guidance on what “property” means.

In this vacuum, when a Washington appellate court decides whether the dissolution chapter reaches something as property or an economic circumstance, the court often grasps at case law from other jurisdictions. This “compare and contrast” exercise never roots itself in this Court’s definitional tests

because none exist. Division I’s opinion here (Op. at 8-13) marks the latest example. *See, e.g., Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 239, 242 (drawing on California’s case law for guidance); *In re Marriage of Estes*, 84 Wn. App. 586, 591, 929 P.2d 500 (1997) (discussing cases from Georgia, Illinois, Pennsylvania, and Oklahoma). And, as in *Hall*, the analysis is often confusing. Here, for example, Division I agreed with Brooks that this beneficial trust interest could be a “contingent interest.” Op. at 12. But Division I then created a new category of asset—a thing that is both a “contingent interest” *and* a “mere expectancy.” *Id.* at 13. No appellate court had previously mixed the two concepts together. Division I’s unprecedented blending causes confusion because the Court of Appeals had held before that a contingent interest counts as “property.” *Estes*, 84 Wn. App. at 590 (citations omitted).

Because Washington law needs tests for what counts as “property” and a relevant “economic circumstance,” this Court’s decision about beneficiaries’ trust interests would likely have

broader public importance for more than just this asset class.

Review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(c) Division I's Resolution Conflicts with the Governing Principles Laid Out in Other Cases

While the characterization of a beneficiary interest in a trust under RCW 26.09.070, .080, and .090 presents a new issue, Division I did not write on a blank slate. Its decision conflicts with the principles evident from this Court's cases and from other Court of Appeals cases. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

Division I's decision does not reconcile with the definition of "property" adopted in *In re Marriage of Langham & Kolde*, 153 Wn.2d 553, 564, 106 P.3d 212 (2005). That case concerned stock options. *Id.* This Court adopted a liberal test for "property," holding it is "a term of broad significance, embracing everything that has exchangeable value, and every interest or estate which the law regards of sufficient value for judicial recognition." *Id.* (quotation). Of course, *Langham* arose from a post-decree dispute, and so this Court did not cite RCW 26.09.080. But the

broad definition in *Langham* nonetheless should control because the dispute centered on an asset distributed in the divorce decree and invoked the trial court's equitable power to enforce the decree. 153 Wn.2d at 560. It is impossible to see how a beneficial interest in a trust lacks "sufficient value for judicial recognition." *Langham*, 153 Wn.2d at 564 (quotation omitted). But here, Division I did not cite *Langham*, even though Brooks invoked its definition. BA 33-34; RBA 30. RAP 13.4(b)(1) thus favors review.

None of this Court's cases or prior Court of Appeals cases support Division I's hairsplitting between "contingent interests" and "contingent interests not based on a contract," the latter of which that court deemed a "mere expectancy." Op. at 6, 13. In *Estes*, which Division I did not cite, Division III addressed *both* possibilities. It noted that "[a]n enforceable contract right is property." 84 Wn. App. at 590. But the court then wrote that "[a] contingent future interest is *also* property." *Id.* (citing omitted). The court never said that an irrevocable contract had to undergird

a contingent interest for it to be property. Nor could Division III have said that. While Division I here stressed that Cooney’s trust interest was at the “whim” of the trust settlor, that uncertainty was equally true in *Estes*. The interest there—a hope to earn contingent attorney fees from a personal-injury lawsuit—was terminable at any time at the client’s whim, RPC 1.16(a)(3), and the attorney would not earn the fee until substantially performing. *See, e.g., Taylor v. Shigaki*, 84 Wn. App. 723, 728, 930 P.2d 340 (1997) (holding that a client’s former attorney is entitled to a contingency fee on a settlement executed after discharge only upon showing “substantial performance” of their duties before termination). Yet Division III still deemed it property. *Estes*, 84 Wn. App. at 590. No logical principle supports Division I’s fine distinction here: a contingent contractual right is property “*no matter how improbable the contingency.*” *In re Marriage of Leland*, 69 Wn. App. 57, 71, 847 P.2d 518 (1993) (emphasis added). If a highly unlikely contingency does not destroy the property character of a

contingent interest, then neither should the mere possibility, no matter how unlikely, that a trust settlor might alter the beneficiary's interest. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

This case's record crystallizes Division I's error. Cooney's grandmother and her companion had resigned as trustees and disclaimed "*any other interests whatsoever* we may have or had in this trust or trusts." CP 453, 456-59, 717 (emphasis added). Cooney also filed an affidavit identifying himself as both the substitute trustee and the settlor. CP 457. His beneficiary interest had thus become vested and highly probable. A future interest "is a present ownership interest in property, even though the owner's right to possession or enjoyment is postponed until some time in the future and may be contingent or vested." *Restatement (Third) of Property* § 25.1 cmt. a.

In any event, even if Division I had been right that a beneficiary interest was elusive or hard to value, Washington precedents nonetheless conflict with Division I's ultimate conclusion. In *Hall*, for example, this Court concluded that

professional “goodwill” is property despite being not being “readily salable.” 103 Wn.2d at 239. That decision approved *In re Marriage of Lukens*, 16 Wn. App. 481, 486, 558 P.2d 279 (1976), which stressed that “[t]he fact that professional goodwill may be elusive, intangible, and difficult to evaluate is not a proper reason to ignore its existence in a proper case.” The same should be true here.

Even if Division I’s decision was compatible with cases on “property,” its holding still cannot be reconciled with this Court’s cases. RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court’s precedents show that the term “economic circumstances” is not confined solely to assets that are distributable as “property” under RCW 26.09.080. For example, in *Kraft*, this Court considered military disability retirement pay. 119 Wn.2d at 440, 445. Although federal law excludes that asset from the “property” subject to distribution, this Court held that a dissolution court may nonetheless consider it as “relevant to a determination of the parties’ ultimate economic circumstances.” *Id.* at 446. Similarly, in *Zahm*, this

Court concluded that a dissolution court may not re-distribute social security benefits but may consider them “when determining the parties’ relative economic circumstances at dissolution.” 138 Wn.2d at 222. This Court treated a doctor’s future earning potential the same—while not property, it is still counts as the parties’ economic circumstances. *Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 248. No logical principle separates a beneficiary’s interest from these other kinds of assets.

Accordingly, Division I erred when it rejected Cooney’s beneficiary interest as not material. Op. at 15, 19. Not only do all the relevant statutes and precedents suggest that it is, but Cooney did not deny Brooks’s estimation (at CP 581) that the concealed were worth at least \$1 million. Brooks also negotiated representations in the settlement agreement, confirming that Cooney’s full disclosure was material. CP 634, 643.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) and hold that, in line with the principles in several precedents, that a beneficiary interest in a trust, even if revocable, must be

treated either as “property” or as the parties’ economic circumstances and financial ability relevant to RCW 26.09.070(3), .080, .080(4), and .090(1)(f).

(2) This Court Should Review Division I’s Decision on the Obligations and Rights that Attend Spouses’ Fiduciary Duty to Each Other

Division I’s decision also cries out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) because the opinion clashes with a wide body of precedents on spouses’ fiduciary duty to each other. This Court should grant review to reaffirm this duty because it creates transparency that protects disadvantaged spouses, reduces costly litigation, and fosters settlements. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(a) Spouses’ Fiduciary Duty to Each Other Presents a Broadly Important Issue That This Court Should Decide

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