FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/16/2024 3:14 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102677-3 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

ROBERT W. COONEY,

Respondent,

and

HILLARY A. BROOKS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WECHSLER BECKER, LLP

By: Frances Turean WSBA No. 26066

701 5th Avenue, Suite 4550 Seattle, WA 98104

(206) 624-4900

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

² The agreement provided that if a party fails to disclose a community asset, they are liable to the other party for 75% of the value of the community asset. (CP 764) The agreement did not address the remedy for omission of an undisclosed separate asset.

Cooney did not list his interest as a beneficiary of the revocable survivor's trust in the agreement because it was "not an asset and at best perhaps an expectation" (CP 425) since the settlors of the trust "were alive [and] doing well" when the parties reached their agreement. (CP 423) In entering the agreement, the parties declared "that no reliance whatsoever is placed upon representation[s] other than those expressly set forth herein." (CP 758)

As part of their settlement, Brooks received 93% of the parties' community property, approximately \$1.8 million. (CP 426) As Cooney had been paying Brooks monthly support between \$13,000 and \$15,000 since they separated five years earlier in 2016, the parties agreed to terminate maintenance. (See CP 16, 422, 426)

The dissolution court entered final orders incorporating the parties' agreement by reference and dissolving their marriage on July 12, 2021. (CP 396)

4. Cooney's grandmother died six months after the parties divorced. The trial court denied Brooks' motion to vacate the agreed decree because any interest Cooney had in the trust was not "an asset" when the parties divorced.

Both Cooney's grandmother and her partner died the same day (CP 662), on January 31, 2022, six months after the parties divorced. (CP 721) On September 19, 2022, over a year after final orders had been entered, Brooks moved to vacate the decree (CP 402),³ asserting that the decree must be vacated because Cooney committed misconduct by

³ As Cooney's grandmother executed a will, a probate was opened, from which Brooks obtained a copy of the trust documents. (*See* CP 579)

failing to disclose his status as beneficiary of the revocable trust during the dissolution action. (See CP 412)⁴

The trial court denied Brooks' motion to vacate, finding it was "clear that before [Brooks] signed the CR2A, she was aware that [Cooney] was a beneficiary of his grandmother's trust. While there are disputes about the nature and extent of his disclosures, it is undisputed that she possessed this knowledge and proceeded to sign the CR2A." (CP 480) The trial court also determined "that a contingent interest in a revocable trust is not an asset and

⁴ While Brooks repeatedly asserts that the trust had assets "totaling at least \$1 million," she provided no evidence to support this claim. When the trust was initially funded in 2004, the trust held real property in California and the settlors' financial accounts, stocks, and bonds "not otherwise disposed of by the naming of a beneficiary." (CP 714) The California real property was sold in December 2020 for \$450,000 (CP 740), but there is no evidence of the actual proceeds received by the trust, or how much was remaining when the settlors died. There was also no evidence of the value of accounts, if any, still held by the trust when the settlors died.

the fact of [Cooney's] status as a possible beneficiary was not material to the outcome of their agreement." (CP 480)

5. Division One affirmed in an unpublished opinion.

In reviewing the trial court's decision, Division One recognized that "spouses have a specific fiduciary duty to disclose all community and separate property before dissolution" to each other and to the court. (Op. 7) Division One, therefore, considered "whether the trust created a property interest, disclosure of which would affect the property distribution." (Op. 8)

Division One concluded that Cooney's interest as beneficiary of the revocable trust was not property.⁵ (Op. 8-13) Division One recognized that while either Cooney's grandmother or her partner were alive, his interest in the

⁵ Although the trust stated it was to be construed in accordance with California law, Division One considered both California and Washington law, as the parties acknowledged that the nature of Cooney's interest in the trust was the same under either law. (Op. 8, 13)

trust was "merely potential." (Op. 13) "Because Cooney's interest was uncertain to vest and he had no contractual right to enforce it, we conclude that Cooney's contingent interest in the trust was an expectancy and not a property interest." (Op. 13)

Division One also held the trust interest was "immaterial" to the parties' agreement because "Cooney's interest could have been extinguished at any time" and there was "no guarantee" that any property would be remaining in trust by the time the last settlor died since it was being used to support the settlors. (Op. 19) Further, Brooks knew Cooney was beneficiary of the trust, and "just days before Cooney's deadline to produce documents, and while she was represented by counsel, Brooks—who is a lawyer—voluntarily chose to sign the settlement agreement." (Op. 14)

C. Why This Court Should Deny Review.

Division One's unpublished opinion deals solely with the consequences of a failure to disclose an expectancy in a revocable trust on a decree. Thus, the issue before Division One was not whether a beneficiary interest in a revocable trust can ever be considered in a pending marriage dissolution action. (Petition 2, 7, 11) Instead, the issue was whether, after the dissolution action was concluded, the trial court abused its discretion in denying Brooks' motion to vacate the agreed decree under CR 60(b)(4), based on Cooney's supposed failure to affirmatively disclose his status as beneficiary of a revocable survivor's trust, when Brooks was aware of his beneficiary status and waived the opportunity to review the trust documents before settling.

"Where a property settlement agreement is approved by a divorce decree, the rights of the parties rest upon the decree rather than the property settlement." *Mickens v. Mickens*, 62 Wn.2d 876, 881, 385 P.2d 14 (1963). In light

of the "strong policy favoring the finality of judgments on the merits," Stanley v. Cole, 157 Wn. App. 873, 887, ¶21, 239 P.3d 611 (2010), particularly in a dissolution action, where the "emotional and financial interests affected by such decisions are best served by finality," Marriage of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809, 699 P.2d 214 (1985), Division One's unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's order denying Brooks' motion to vacate the agreed dissolution decree does not warrant further review. As this Court has held, "in the conflict between the principles of finality in judgments and the validity of judgments, modern judicial development has been to favor finality rather than validity." Marriage of Brown, 98 Wn.2d 46, 49, 653 P.2d 602 (1982).

1. Division One's holding that a mere expectancy is not property is wholly consistent with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Spouses have a fiduciary duty to disclose all community and separate property before dissolution. *Seals*

v. Seals, 22 Wn. App. 652, 656, 590 P.2d 1301 (1979). Because Cooney's interest as beneficiary in the revocable trust was not property, Division One properly concluded that vacation of the decree was not warranted, under CR 60(b)(4), as Cooney had not breached his fiduciary duty. (Op. 8)

There is no need for this Court to accept review in order to "articulate[] a test for what 'property' means under RCW 26.09.080." (Petition 12) This Court has already recognized that "property" is a "term of broad significance, embracing everything that has exchangeable value, and every interest or estate which the law regards of sufficient value for judicial recognition." *Marriage of Langham & Kolde*, 153 Wn.2d 553, 564, 106 P.3d 212 (2005) (quoting *York v. Stone*, 178 Wash. 280, 285, 34 P.2d 911 (1934)). Property "can be tangible or intangible, but it must be something to which there is a right."

Marriage of Harrington, 85 Wn. App. 613, 624, 935 P.2d 1357 (1997).

Excluded from the definition of property, however, are mere expectancies. "By all traditional and current concepts of property, expectancies are not property interests." Restatement (Third) of Trusts §41 (2003), comment a. "In Washington law a mere expectancy does not rise to the level of a property right." Marriage of Leland, 69 Wn. App. 57, 63, 847 P.2d 518, rev. denied, 121 Wn.2d 1033 (1993). Because a mere expectancy "is not a right," it is "not property." Harrington, 85 Wn. App. at 624. As it is "not a contract right," a mere expectancy "is not 'property' in the true sense" and "should not be considered in striking a fair and equitable division of property." Marriage of Bishop, 46 Wn. App. 198, 203, 729 P.2d 647 (1986).

Consistent with these decisions, Division One properly held that any interest Cooney had in the revocable

trust as beneficiary was a mere expectancy, and not property. As Division One recognized, "the interest created by the revocable trust is analogous to that held by a legatee under a will... –both are expectancies of a gift. Neither creates an enforceable right to the benefit—both are merely potential and can evaporate in a moment at the whim of the settlor or insured." (Op. 12) See Restatement (Third) of Trusts §25 (2003), comment a ("the interests the revocable-trust beneficiaries will receive on the death of the settlor should, generally at least, receive the same treatment and should be subject to the same rules of construction as the 'expectancies' of devisees"); 26 Wash. Prac., Elder Law and Health Law Part One § 2:70, Revocable trusts—Family living trusts (2nd ed.) (revocable trusts are "alternatives to wills").

As this Court has long recognized, "no one can have any estate or interest at law or in equity, contingent or otherwise, in the property of a living person to which he hopes to succeed as heir at law or next of kin of such living person. During the life of such person, no one can have more than a mere expectation or hope of succeeding to his property." *Rawsthorn v. Rawsthorn*, 198 Wash. 471, 481, 88 P.2d 847 (1939). "An heir's interest in his ancestor's estate does not vest until that ancestor's death." *In re Wiltermood's Estate*, 78 Wn.2d 238, 240, 472 P.2d 536 (1970).

Accordingly, "a bequest in a will while the testator is still living is merely an expectancy." *Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wn. App. 38, 49, 848 P.2d 185 (cited source omitted), *rev. denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1020 (1993) *disapproved of on other grounds* in *Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 219 P.3d 932 (2009). It is only after the testator has died, when the will can no longer be changed, that "the bequest becomes a vested interest to the extent of its actual value." *Hurd*, 69 Wn. App. at 49; *see also In re Ziegner's Estate*, 146 Wash.

537, 541, 264 P. 12 (1928) ("all wills are ambulatory in their nature, taking effect only upon the death of the testator").

Because a revocable trust "is a unique instrument which has no legal significance until the settlor's death," a beneficiary's interest in a revocable trust, like a bequest in a will, is merely an expectancy while the settlor is alive. See Estate of Bernard, 182 Wn. App. 692, 724, ¶116, 332 P.3d 480, rev. denied, 181 Wn.2d 1027 (2014); RCW 11.98.160 (effective date of an instrument purporting to create a revocable trust is the date of the trustor's death). "While the trustor of a revocable trust is living, the rights of the beneficiaries are subject to the control of, and the duties of the trustee are owed exclusively to, the trustor." RCW 11.103.040.6 Accordingly, while the settlor is alive, beneficiaries to a revocable trust have no "legally

⁶ The terms "settlor" and "trustor" are used interchangeably as they have the same definition. RCW 11.02.005(19), (23).

cognizable interest" in the trust, 182 Wn. App. at 725, ¶118, as their interest is "subject to divestment." *Bernard*, 182 Wn. App. at 724, ¶117; *see also In re Joanne K. Blankenship Survivor's Tr.*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 686, 699, ¶32, 493 P.3d 751 (2021) (beneficiary "does not have a present interest" in a revocable trust).

When the decree incorporating the parties' agreement was entered, both settlors were alive. Therefore, any interest Cooney had in the revocable trust was merely an expectancy. Because a "mere expectancy does not rise to the level of a property right" in Washington, *Leland*, 69 Wn. App. at 63, Cooney accurately stated, under the penalty of perjury, that he had "made a full and complete

⁷ That a beneficiary's interest in a revocable trust is not "property" for purposes of a marriage dissolution action is consistent with the law in other jurisdictions that have addressed this issue. *See e.g., Marriage of Parker*, 371 Mont. 74, 81, 305 P.3d 816, 821 ¶¶35-36 (2013); *Marriage of Githens*, 227 Or. App. 73, 90, 204 P.3d 835, 844, *rev. denied*, 347 Or. 42 (2009); *Kelly v. Kelly*, 634 S.W.3d 335 (Tex. App. Houston 1st Dist. 2021).

disclosure of any and all financial assets" that he owns (CP 768) and acknowledged that the agreement accurately listed the "property and obligations that either or both have accumulated." (CP 755) Thus, Division One did not "stay[] silent about Cooney's lies" (Petition 22) – Cooney had been honest.

In holding that Cooney's "contingent interest" in the revocable trust was not property, Division One did not, in its unpublished opinion, "create[] a new category of asset." (Petition 13) As Division One stated, "[c]ontingent interests are property interests when they are derived from an enforceable, contractual right." (Op. 10, citing *Marriage of Brown*, 15 Cal. 3d 838, 846, 544 P.2d 561, 566, n. 8 (1976)) *See, e.g., Marriage of Estes*, 84 Wn. App. 586, 590-91, 929 P.2d 500 (1997) (Petition 13, 15-16) ("proceeds of contingency fee agreements," even if not yet paid, are property); *Leland*, 69 Wn. App. at 71 (disability payments were property; by virtue of community-funded insurance

policies, husband had a "vested right" to the disability payments, "contingent only upon his remaining disabled").

Because "Cooney possessed no contractual right to enforce the benefit created by the trust," Division One properly concluded that Cooney's interest in the revocable trust was an expectancy, not property. (Op. 13; *see also* Op. 11: the "defining characteristic of an expectancy is that its holder has no enforceable right to his beneficence," citing *Brown*, 544 P.2d at 565, n. 6))

Further, as Cooney's interest in the trust was "merely potential" and could evaporate "at any moment on the whim of his grandmother and her partner" (Op. 13), it did not have "sufficient value for judicial recognition" as property. *Compare Langham*, 153 Wn.2d at 564 (Petition 15) (stock options are property because they grant one the "right to buy stock at a particular price for a specified period of time"); *Marriage of Hall*, 103 Wn.2d 236, 241, 692 P.2d 175 (1984) (Petition 11-12) (goodwill is property;

it is a distinct asset of a professional practice, which supplements its earning capacity "in the form of established patients or clients, referrals, trade name, location and associations").

Brooks is wrong when she claims that Division One's unpublished opinion somehow places "a beneficiary interest in a trust . . . beyond the reach of" a dissolution court. (Petition 7) Division One's opinion solely addresses expectancies in revocable trusts, not present interests in irrevocable trusts. "[T]he nature of a beneficiary's interest differs materially depending on whether the trust is revocable or irrevocable." Bernard, 182 Wn. App. at 724, ¶117. Upon "the creation of an irrevocable trust, trust beneficiaries acquire a vested and present beneficial interest in the trust property, and their interests are not subject to divestment as with a revocable trust." Bernard, 182 Wn. App. at 724, ¶117.

Accordingly, Division One's unpublished opinion has no impact on existing published decisions holding that when a spouse has a present interest in, or receives a present benefit from, a trust, it should be considered by the court. See, e.g., Marriage of Soriano, 31 Wn. App. 432, 434, 643 P.2d 450 (1982) (considering wife's interest in two trusts that provided her with lifetime monthly income); Harrington, 85 Wn. App. at 617 (considering wife's present interest in a testamentary trust established by her deceased father); Landauer v. Landauer, 95 Wn. App. 579, 589-90, 975 P.2d 577 (considering wife's present interest in real property held in an Indian trust; while the real property could not be sold, it had "income potential"), rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1002 (1999).

2. Division One's holding that Cooney's expectancy in a revocable trust was not material to the parties' settlement agreement does not conflict with decisions from this Court.

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